0 1989-5

FILED Jul 21/2015 Count of Appeals Division I State of Washingtor

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_ (COA No. 71161-0-I)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Senai Hankerson, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this

Court to accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) of the Court of Appeals

decision terminating review dated June 22, 2015, a copy of which is

attached as Appendix A.

#### B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The failure to suppress evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 is presumed prejudicial. The State bears the burden of showing a constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court of Appeals ruled that the record did not support the warrantless search of a garage in which Mr. Hankerson was located because there were no exigent circumstances and the evidence established that law enforcement could have obtained a search warrant. Did the Court of Appeals err when in determined that this unlawful entry was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 2. An impoundment of a vehicle is a seizure because it is a governmental taking. The Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7 of the Washington Constitution require all seizures to be reasonable.

  Was the warrantless seizure of the Range Rover unreasonable because

there was no probable cause to believe the vehicle had been stolen or used in a felony offense?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 2, 2011, Seattle Police Officer Brian Hanson entered a parking lot and noticed a vehicle without a front license plate. 4/5/12 RP 59, 66. Officer Hanson parked his vehicle 50 to 75 feet away and observed the vehicle, a newer gray Range Rover, for approximately 30 seconds. 4/5/12 RP 67, 79. The Range Rover exited the parking lot and Officer Hanson followed it. 4/5/12 RP 68. Officer Hanson activated his overhead lights after the Range Rover committed a traffic infraction. 4/5/12 RP 71. The Range Rover did not stop and Officer Hanson turned off his lights due to his department's pursuit policy, which does not allow him to continue pursuit merely for a traffic infraction. 4/5/12 RP 55-56, 75.

Officer Hanson continued following the Range Rover, which entered the southbound lanes of Interstate 5 (I-5). 4/5/12 RP 75.

Traffic on I-5 was heavy and the Range Rover was not driving in an erratic or dangerous manner. 4/5/12 RP 76. Officer Hanson requested assistance from the Washington State Patrol. 4/5/12 RP 75.

Washington State Patrol Trooper Brandon Villanti observed the

Range Rover exit I-90. 4/5/12 RP 33. He attempted to effectuate a traffic stop by activating his lights and sirens, but the Range Rover did not respond. 4/5/12 RP 32-33. Trooper Villanti lost sight of the vehicle after it entered a park at the end of Lake Washington Boulevard. 4/5/12 RP 35-36.

Washington State Patrol Trooper David Bennett later located the Range Rover parked in a cul-de-sac on 120th Street. 4/5/12 RP 45.

The vehicle was unoccupied, locked, and legally parked. 4/3/12 RP 10.

Trooper Bennett was initially unable to obtain a vehicle identification number (VIN) for the vehicle. 4/5/12 RP 49. Trooper Bennett impounded the vehicle, conducted an inventory search, and located a VIN. 4/5/12 RP 49-50. There was no information that the vehicle was stolen. See 4/5/12 RP 50. The vehicle was not reported stolen until weeks later. 4/9/12 RP 99.

On July 10, 2011 at 5:56 p.m., Seattle police officers were alerted by a Lo Jack system<sup>1</sup> that a stolen Lexus was in the area. 4/5/12

Lo Jack is a private company that installs transmitters on personal vehicles that are activated when the vehicle is reported stolen. 4/4/12 RP 16. If a police vehicle is equipped with a Lo Jack tracker box, it will begin to beep when in close proximity to the stolen vehicle. 4/4/12 RP 17. The Lo Jack indicator points in the direction of the vehicle and signals how close the vehicle is. 4/4/12 RP 19-20.

RP 19. Officers arrived at a residence with a detached garage and located the stolen Lexus parked in the driveway. 4/5/12 RP 21.

Officers were at that location for approximately 20 minutes before opening the garage door and searching the garage. 4/4/12 RP 7.

Officers removed Mr. Hankerson from the garage and placed him under arrest. 4/5/12 RP 23.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Hankerson's conviction for possession of a stolen vehicle relating to the Range Rover and taking a motor vehicle in the first degree relating to the Lexus. Slip op. at 1. The Court of Appeals ruled that while the warrantless entry into the garage was not justified by exigent circumstances and therefore unconstitutional, the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Slip op. at 16. The Court of Appeals also found that the seizure of the Range Rover was permissible because there was probable cause to believe it was stolen or used in the commission of a felony. Slip op. at 17.

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. The warrantless entry into the garage was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Evidence obtained pursuant to an unconstitutional search and fruits of an illegal search must be suppressed. *State v. Perrone*, 119
Wn.2d 538, 556, 834 P.2d 611 (1992); *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371
U.S. 471, 485, 83 S. Ct. 407, 9 L. Ed. 2d 441 (1963). The admission of evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment "is constitutional error and presumed prejudicial." *State v. McReynolds*, 117 Wn. App. 309, 326, 71 P.3d 663 (2003). The State bears the burden of demonstrating the error is harmless. *Id.* Constitutional error is harmless only if the State shows beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error. *Id.* 

The warrantless entry into the garage resulted in Mr. Guerreo's identification of Mr. Hankerson as the person he initially observed driving and exiting the Lexus. 4/11/12 RP 14-15. The Court of Appeals held that because Mr. Hankerson's fingerprints were located within a different vehicle, a 1992 Honda, and because his co-defendant testified against him in exchange for a plea bargain, the evidence

obtained as a result of the warrantless entry into the garage was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Slip op. at 16.

Testimony of an accomplice given on behalf of the prosecution should be subjected to careful examination in light of other evidence in the case and should be acted upon with great caution. WPIC 6.05. The State cannot demonstrate that the tainted evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt based on a co-defendant's testimony. This Court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals decision holding that this constitutional error was harmless.

# 2. The seizure of the Range Rover violated the Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7.

The Fourth Amendment and article 1, section 7 of the Washington Constitution require all seizures to be reasonable. *State v. Hill*, 68 Wn. App. 300, 304, 842 P.2d 996 (1993). An impoundment of a vehicle is a seizure because it is a governmental taking. *State v. Reynoso*, 41 Wn. App. 113, 116, 702 P.2d 1222 (1985). The State bears the burden of showing that a seizure falls within an exception to the warrant requirement. *State v. Houser*, 95 Wn.2d 143, 149, 622 P.2d 1218 (1980). The Court of Appeals ruled that the seizure of the Range Rover was permissible because there was probable cause to believe that

the vehicle was either stolen or used in the commission of a felony offense. Slip op. at 17.

a. A vehicle may be lawfully impounded by law enforcement only if specific criteria are satisfied.

The police can impound a vehicle only under certain specific circumstances. *State v. Simpson*, 95 Wn.2d 170, 189, 622 P.2d 1199 (1980).

A vehicle may be lawfully impounded (1) as evidence of a crime, when the police have probable cause to believe the vehicle has been stolen or used in the commission of a felony offense; (2) under the 'community caretaking' function if (a) the vehicle must be moved because it has been abandoned, impedes traffic, or otherwise threatens public safety or if there is a threat to the vehicle itself and its contents of vandalism or theft *and* (b) the defendant, the defendant's spouse, or friends are not available to move the vehicle; and (3) in the course of enforcing traffic regulations if the driver committed a traffic offense for which the legislature has expressly authorized impoundment.

State v. Tyler, 177 Wn.2d 690, 698, 302 P.3d 165 (2013) (citing State v. Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, 742-43, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984)). If there is no probable cause to seize a vehicle and a reasonable alternative to impoundment exists, then it is unreasonable to impound a vehicle.

Houser, 95 Wn.2d at 153. Absent one or more of these circumstances, the impoundment of a vehicle is unconstitutional.

7

b. There was no probable cause to believe that the Range Rover was stolen.

Probable cause exists where the facts and circumstances within an officer's knowledge and of which the officer has reasonably trustworthy information are sufficient to warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief that an offense has been committed. *State v.*Terrovona, 105 Wn.2d 632, 643, 716 P.2d 295 (1986). Facts obtained after the impoundment has occurred do not bear on whether the impoundment was reasonable. Tyler, 177 Wn.2d at 699. Law enforcement officers are not "free to impound just any vehicle parked on the street or any vehicle they stop for traffic infractions." *Id.* at 707-08.

Trooper Bennett located the Range Rover parked parallel to the curb on a small cul-de-sac. 4/3/12 RP 9. The door was locked and he could not see a VIN from outside the vehicle. 4/3/12 RP 10. There was a temporary tag on the vehicle, but it could not be read through the dark tinted windows. 4/3/12 RP 10. Based on this information, Trooper Bennett "called for a tow truck to try and get the vehicle open and off the street[.]" 4/3/12 RP 13. When asked why the Range Rover was towed, Trooper Bennett testified:

Well, for a start, we couldn't find out who did it, so I wanted to try and find who the registered owner was, maybe be [sic] they can get his consent to search the vehicle, you know, (inaudible) or to that jurisdiction, they might want to bring the vehicle up. Right now I didn't think we had much to go on at all. By the time the tow company got there, they managed to find the VIN number, ran an [sic] check through VIN, and if I remember right I think it was stating that it came back for an owner in Ohio. And they said they had given it back to the lease company in New York.

4/3/12 RP 13. The vehicle was not reported stolen at the time of the Range Rover's impound. 4/3/12 RP 23.

The lack of license plates is insufficient to establish that the vehicle was stolen, especially in light of the testimony that a temporary tag was displayed in the rear window. Law enforcement was able to obtain the VIN prior to impounding the vehicle and a check provided no information that the vehicle may be stolen. 4/3/12 RP 13.

Furthermore, the fact that the vehicle was unoccupied (i.e., legally parked on a public road) and that law enforcement were unable to reach the owner of the Range Rover does not establish probable cause that the vehicle was stolen. Therefore, this was not a basis upon which to justify impoundment.

c. There was no probable cause to believe that the Range Rover was used in the commission of a felony.

The initial officer who attempted to effectuate a traffic stop on the Range Rover indicated that when he activated his lights, the car "took off." 4/2/12 RP 34. Because of the Seattle Police Department's pursuit policy, he did not continue pursuing the Range Rover. *Id.* "So as soon as, you know, that it was obvious the vehicle was not going to stop for me, I turned off my lights and siren." *Id.* These facts are insufficient to establish probable cause that the driver of the Range Rover willfully failed to bring the vehicle to a stop and drove in a reckless manner while attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle. *See* RCW 46.61.024(1).

Trooper Bennett testified that based on the damage to the car and the damage to a gate on a bike trail, it "seemed a fair assumption that this pretty much matched – the vehicle damage seemed to match." 4/3/12 RP 14. Based on this evidence, the State argued that impounding the Range Rover was permissible because there was probable cause to believe the driver had committed the crimes of reckless driving and hit and run on unattended property. *See* 4/3/12 RP 69.

However, hit and run on unattended property is a simple misdemeanor and reckless driving is a gross misdemeanor. RCW 46.52.010; RCW 46.61.500. Because a vehicle may be impounded only if there is probable cause to believe it was used in the commission of a *felony*, hit and run or reckless driving did not justify impounding the Range Rover. *See Tyler*, 177 Wn.2d at 698. There was no probable cause to believe that the Range Rover was used in the commission of a felony and thus there was no legitimate basis to impound the vehicle.

d. The remedy is reversal and remand with instructions to suppress all evidence obtained from the unconstitutional impoundment.

As previously discussed, the admission of evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is constitutional error and presumed prejudicial. *McReynolds*, 117 Wn. App. at 326. The State cannot demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error. Mr. Hankerson was not found in the vicinity of the Range Rover on July 2, 2011. 4/3/12 RP 12-13. The State relied on the fingerprint evidence obtained from the Range Rover after its impoundment to establish Mr. Hankerson's

possession of the vehicle.<sup>2</sup> 4/10/12 RP 88. The State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt the result would have been the same without this evidence. Accordingly, this Court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals decision.

#### E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Senai Hankerson respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).