RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Aug 20, 2015, 2:30 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 91989-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

SENAI DENNIS HANKERSON,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND **CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW**

> DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> > STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE **Deputy Prosecuting Attorney** Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

> FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

E. ARGUMENT

1. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DETERMINATION THAT THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT OFFICER CLARK WAS IN UNIFORM.

This Court may review a decision of the court of appeals that conflicts with another decision of the court of appeals or raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4). In holding that the evidence

in this case was insufficient for a rational fact finder to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Officer Clark was in uniform when Hankerson attempted to elude her, the court of appeals misapplied the prior decisions on which it relied, and did not faithfully apply the standard of review on a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence. Slip Op. at 20-21. Moreover, the proper enforcement of laws criminalizing the dangerous behavior of attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle is a matter of substantial public interest, and there are currently no decisions by this Court to guide lower courts on the quantum of evidence that may be sufficient to prove the uniform element of this crime in cases where there is no explicit testimony that the pursuing officer was in uniform.

The standard of review on a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is well known: it presumes the truth of the State's evidence and demands that all inferences be drawn in a light most favorable to the verdict. <u>State v. Goodman</u>, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). Circumstantial evidence carries weight equal to that of direct evidence in this analysis. <u>Id.</u>

There are currently only two published appellate decisions in Washington addressing what amount of evidence short of explicit testimony is or is not sufficient to allow a jury to find beyond a

reasonable doubt that a pursuing officer was in uniform. State v. Hudson, 85 Wn. App. 401, 932 P.2d 714 (1997); State v. Fussell, 84 Wn. App. 126, 925 P.2d 642 (1996). These cases both hold that testimony that the pursuing officers were on duty in a marked patrol car and that the defendant probably knew they were officers, without more, is insufficient to permit a rational trier of fact to infer beyond a reasonable doubt that the officers were in uniform. Hudson, 85 Wn. App. at 405; Fussell, 84 Wn. App. at 128-29.

In this case, the court of appeals applied <u>Hudson</u> and <u>Fussell</u> in a way that essentially created a heightened standard of review as to the uniform element. The court of appeals mistakenly concluded that the amount of evidence in this case is analogous to the insufficient evidence in <u>Hudson</u>, when in fact there is significantly more evidence in this case than in <u>Hudson</u>—not only does this case contain the type of testimony seen in <u>Hudson</u> (that Clark was on patrol in a marked patrol car), but also testimony indicating that Clark was on an ordinary, routine patrol shift when she attempted to stop Hankerson, tasked with responding to 911 calls and dealing with problems that she observed, and testimony by another patrol officer that he wears his uniform on patrol,

creating the reasonable inference that all Seattle patrol officers wear their uniforms when on patrol.² 6RP 5-10, 16; 8RP 123.

By equating the evidence in this case with the evidence in Hudson, the court of appeals applied a heightened standard of review that would seem to require testimony that Clark herself habitually wore her uniform or was in fact in uniform on that night. This contradicts this Court's established precedent of a uniform standard of review for the sufficiency of the evidence across all elements and crimes. E.g., Goodman, 150 Wn.2d at 781. This Court should grant review on this issue to correct the outcome in this case and, more importantly, to clarify that there is no special, heightened standard of review when a challenge is raised to the sufficiency of the evidence that a pursuing officer was in uniform in a prosecution for attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle.

² By characterizing the other officer's testimony as "testimony . . . that 'normally' when he is 'on patrol,' he is 'in [his] police uniform,' the court of appeals also failed to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Slip Op. at 21. The word "normally" was merely part of the question, "What do you normally [wear] when you are on patrol?" 8RP 123. The officer's unequivocal answer, "I'm in my police uniform," could very reasonably have been interpreted by the jury as a statement that he is always in his uniform when on patrol. 8RP 123.

2. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW ON THE UNRESOLVED ISSUE OF HANKERSON'S STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE SEIZURE OF THE RANGE ROVER.

This Court may review a decision of the court of appeals that raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Whether a defendant charged with theft of a motor vehicle or possession of a stolen vehicle may seek to escape conviction by challenging the search or seizure of the stolen vehicle by police is an issue of substantial public interest. This case presents such a question in a very common scenario: a defendant possesses a stolen vehicle, successfully flees from police officers who lawfully attempt to stop him, and then manages to park the vehicle and disappear before pursuing officers catch up. Although the issue of standing was litigated by the parties in both the trial court and the court of appeals, the trial court declined to reach the issue and the court of appeals assumed Hankerson had standing without deciding the issue. 4RP 67-69, 76; 5RP 5; Slip Op. at 17.

Under the Washington state constitution, a defendant has automatic standing to challenge a search or seizure if he is

(1) charged with an offense that involves possession as an

essential element; and (2) in possession of the subject matter at the time of the search or seizure. State v. Jones, 146 Wn.2d 328, 332, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002). However, Washington appellate courts have never addressed whether a defendant remains in possession of a stolen vehicle for purposes of asserting automatic standing after he successfully eludes pursuing police vehicles and then flees from the vehicle before police catch up, leaving it parked and locked on a dead-end street to which the defendant has no known ties.

Prior cases that involved some but not all of the same facts appear to suggest different answers, depending on which facts are involved. E.g., State v. Zakel, 119 Wn.2d 563, 834 P.2d 1046 (1992) (defendant not in possession at time of search where vehicle was found unlocked, illegally parked, and unattended, in location to which defendant had no connection, and defendant disclaimed ownership prior to search, despite fact that defendant entered vehicle after the search and evidence found in search supported defendant's claim that he had been living in the vehicle); State v. Simpson, 95 Wn.2d 170, 622 P.2d 1199 (1980) (plurality opinion) (defendant who parked and locked vehicle—later found to be stolen—outside his residence, and who had key with him when subsequently arrested on a warrant, retained possession of vehicle

for purposes of automatic standing); State v. Samalia, 186 Wn. App. 224, 230, 344 P.3d 722 (2015) (defendant who fled stolen vehicle on foot to evade police, leaving vehicle unlocked, abandoned the vehicle and its contents).

The mere fact that a defendant has parked and locked a stolen vehicle cannot mean that he necessarily continues to possess the vehicle in perpetuity despite other indications that he does not intend to return to the vehicle. However, current case law provides little guidance to trial courts regarding what facts are necessary to establish that a defendant no longer possesses a locked vehicle for purposes of asserting automatic standing. This Court should take the opportunity to provide such guidance by addressing whether Hankerson has standing to challenge the seizure of the Range Rover in this case. While the State asks the Court to address this issue regardless of whether it grants review of the issues raised in the Petition for Review, review is particularly appropriate if this Court also grants review of the court of appeals' substantive decision that the seizure was lawful.

3. REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED ON THE HARMLESSNESS OF THE ENTRY INTO THE GARAGE WHEREIN HANKERSON WAS FOUND.

Hankerson seeks review of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the trial court's error in approving of the warrantless entry into the garage was harmless. Review should be denied because this issue does not meet the standards governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the error in denying Hankerson's motion to suppress the fruit of the warrantless entry was harmless. The granting of Hankerson's motion would have prevented the jury from hearing about Guerrero's identification of Hankerson at the scene, but the jury would still have heard Guerrero's in-court identification of Hankerson as the driver of the Lexus, as well as all the other evidence. See State v. Hastings, 119 Wn.2d 229, 236, 830 P.2d 658 (1992) (in-court identification admissible so long as it has a basis independent of illegal search at the scene). There was thus overwhelming untainted evidence that Hankerson possessed the Lexus, and the trial court's denial of Hankerson's challenge to the entry into the garage was therefore harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985).

The Court of Appeals' harmless error determination does not conflict with a decision of this Court, does not conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals, does not present a significant constitutional question, and is not an issue of substantial public interest. This issue does not meet the standards governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). For this reason, review should not be granted on this issue.

4. REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED ON THE LAWFULNESS OF THE SEIZURE OF THE RANGE ROVER.

Hankerson seeks review of the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the seizure of the Range Rover was lawful. Review should be denied because this issue does not meet the standards governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the officers had probable cause to seize and impound the Range Rover.

A vehicle may be lawfully impounded if "the police have probable cause to believe the vehicle has been stolen or used in the commission of a felony offense." State v. Tyler, 177 Wn.2d 690, 698, 302 P.3d 165 (2013). The record contains substantial evidence to support the trial court's determination that the officers had probable cause to believe that the Range Rover had been

stolen or used in the commission of a felony based the presence of the wrong temporary plate on the vehicle and Hankerson's nervous behavior, eluding of officers, and abandonment of the vehicle.

The Court of Appeals' ruling does not conflict with a decision of this Court, does not conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals, does not present a significant constitutional question, and is not an issue of substantial public interest. This issue does not meet the standards governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). For this reason, review should not be granted on this issue.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to grant review of this case as to the new issues raised in this Answer, and to deny review as to the issues raised in the Petition for Review.

DATED this _____ day of August, 2015.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

STEPHANIE FINN GUTHRIE, WSBA #43033
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent
Office WSBA #91002